97280-0

#### NO. 76777-1-I

#### (CONSOLIDATED WITH IN RE BOSONE NO. 76816-6-I)

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS – STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION ONE

\_\_\_\_\_

ROBERT J. BOSONE, Appellant/Cross-Respondent,

v.

ANN LONGINOTTI, Respondent/Cross-Appellant.

## ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR SKAGIT COUNTY

The Honorable David Needy, Superior Court Judge

## PETITION FOR SUPREME COURT REVIEW OF DECISION OF DIVISION ONE

\_\_\_\_\_

THOMAS E. SEGUINE, WSBA # 17507 COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT/CROSS-RESPONDENT

1023 South Third Street Mount Vernon, WA 98273 Ph: (360) 755-1000

## **

#### I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

The Petitioner and person filing the petition here is Bobby Bosone, son or Robert "Buzz" Bosone.

#### II. CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

The decision from which review is sought is the decision of the Court of Appeals, Division One, affirming the dismissal of Bobby's Vulnerable Adult Protection Order (VAPO) action filed on behalf of his infirm father directed toward related misconduct and malfeasance by his sister, as respondent to the action. A panel of the Court of Appeals issued its opinion affirming the trial court on March 18,, 2019. The petition is likewise asked to review the decision of the Division One denying a motion for reconsideration on this same issue, issued on April 30, 2019. Copies of the original opinion and the order denying reconsideration are attached hereto as Exhibit A.

#### III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Whether the existence of a pending guardianship action allows and/or mandates a court to summarily dismiss an arguably overlapping VAPO petition?

#### IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The essence of the factual elements of the case is captured in the Division One opinion. Ann had filed a guardianship petition and VAPO

petition on successive days, essentially contemporaneously. In both she alleged that her brother Bobby had been abusing their father financially and in terms of his care. A hearing for Ann's VAPO petition was set to address its content. Bobby actively sought the date and prepared for it. Before the hearing Bobby filed a VAPO petition with the court asserting that Ann had financially abused their father. The cases were calendared together, for ease of the parties.

The hearing on Ann's VAPO petition started as scheduled, but had to be recessed because of time. At the next scheduled hearing on it, to continue and complete the hearing, Ann had retained new counsel who had *not* been of record at the first hearing. Without any notice pursuant to the rules of civil procedure, he moved the court to dismiss both VAPO petitions and proceed exclusively under the guardianship. The trial court ultimately agreed.

The trial court had taken no evidence on Bobby's VAPO petition, at all. There was no hearing of any type addressing any of the allegations made by Bobby with respect to his sister and their father. The trial court ruled, as pointed out in the Division One opinion, that *because* the guardianship petition had been filed and was in process, *that* justified the wholesale dismissal of Bobby's VAPO petition.

Division One's opinion addressed this issue by vague reference to the overlapping purposes of the two statutory schemes, to the trial court's duty to

protect vulnerable adults, and summarily concluded that "the trial court reasonably determined that Buzz's interests would be best served via the guardianship proceedings, rather than via competing VAPO petitions between warring siblings." *Opinion*, 10. Later the court stated:

Under the circumstances, the trial court's solution of dismissing both VAPO petitions and allowing the parties to litigate their concerns about Buzz's care via the guardianship proceeding was eminently reasonable.

Opinion, 12. No citation was provided to either part of this decision.

#### V. ARGUMENT FOR ACCEPTANCE OF REVIEW

#### 1. Review is sought under RAP 13.4(b)(3)

Petitioner seeks review on an issue of substantial public interest that should be decided by the Supreme Court. As described in this petition, the trial court summarily dismissed an active VAPO petition, without hearing evidence and nary even a chance for the petition to present evidence, merely because of vague assertion that the allegations and assertions of the VAPO petition could be addressed within the context of a previously filed guardianship. Division One similarly summarily affirmed that decision because it was "eminently reasonable." The rationale brings into poignant focus the relationship between these two overlapping statutory schemes. There is no case law of any type addressing the differences between them,

despite the fact that the legislature has apparently deemed the traditional and historical guardianship statutory scheme to be somehow inadequate; otherwise presumably the VAPO statutes would not have been enacted. Further, the Division One opinion dismissed the appeal on this point by stating that the filing of a VAPO petition and a contemporaneous guardianship petition, by the same party, was conventional practice in this area. All of these dynamics, as detailed to some more degree below, support the notion that this court should accept review of this case.

# 2. Case law is needed to address the distinctions between these statutory schemes.

Division One barely cited a case in support of its decision to affirm the trial court. The only case to which it distantly relied was *In re VAPO of Knight*, 178 Wn. App. 929, 317 P.3d 1068 (2014). But that case did not address the distinction that seemed to have been made by the trial court. That distinction was that *because* there was a guardianship petition in place, the need to continue forward with Bobby's VAPO was absent. Division One's opinion does nothing to address this critical distinction being made by the trial court. It simply says that if the two actions occur at the same time and the same place, and the court does not want to proceed with the VAPO petition, it can summarily dismiss it. The failure of Division One to cite convincing precedent here demonstrates that this is a "wild west" area of the law at this

point in time. Because there is no applicable case law to assist the trial and lower appellate courts and practitioners in this setting, review by the Supreme Court is needed.

3. The statutes though overlapping are not identical and the existence of a guardianship petition should not invalidate the filing and hearing of a VAPO petition.

Obviously the guardianship statutes have been part of the law of Washington for a very long time. Comparatively, the VAPO statutes are the new kid on the block. They were enacted despite the existence of the guardianship laws already in place. They were enacted because of perceived limitations of the guardianship statutes. The trial court and Division One treated them as flip sides of the same coin. Further, according to the rulings from those two courts, any time a guardianship petition is filed, any VAPO petition related to it is subject to summary dismissal *because* they are "basically" the same thing. This should not be the law. Now with the Division One opinion, there would be a trend in that direction.

Moreover, in this case, the rule has been set that the existence of a guardianship *petition* standing alone is enough to mandate and/or authorize a trial court to simply eliminate an overlapping VAPO. Petitioner here suggests that having a guardianship in place and fully ordered is one thing, but having a guardianship *petition* in its preliminary form is not a sufficient substitute for

the VAPO petition procedures and remedies. Yet that is where we end up with the trial court and Division One.

4. The court's ultimate justification for the dismissal reveals the substantial public interest at play; the act provides relief to those who naturally are interested in or responsible for protecting the alleged incapacitated person; summary dismissal without evidence is by definition arbitrary and capricious.

As presented in the original appellate briefing from Bobby, Judge Needy had other options short of the severe and final solution of dismissal. One option would certainly have been some form of continuance, such that the court could consider the merits of the allegations against Ann made by Bobby. Judge Needy, instead of summarily dismissing Bobby's petition, could have simply ordered that it be continued and consolidated with the guardianship action in one form or another. Only after hearing evidence about the VAPO petition from Bobby, if there was insufficient evidence, should the court have dismissed it. The court never took any evidence about Bobby's allegations against his sister. There was never any examination of her misdeeds. Moreover, at minimum, as the motion to dismiss was admittedly oral and admittedly without notice, the court should have continued the case for Ann to actually file a motion to dismiss articulating the justification for the motion in more detail, allowing Bobby and his counsel time to respond in kind, on only the issue of dismissal. But not even this was provided to Bobby. He was simply told that his case was being summarily dismissed, with no examination of its merits, with the shallow rationale that it would be encompassed within the guardianship.

#### VI. CONCLUSION

The trial court errantly summarily dismissed the Bobby's VAPO petition. Division One affirmed that decision without citing to any convincing authority. The relationship between guardianship statutes and VAPO petitions is no doubt subtle and nuanced. Yet there is no appellate guidance on those distinctions. This case brings all of that to light, for both the trial court and Division One are on record for the proposition that a VAPO is a "baby brother" of guardianships — even guardianship petitions — that are subject to summary dismissal when they overlap with a guardianship. According to these decisions, such dismissal is appropriate even though the trial court has not taken any evidence as to the veracity of the VAPO petition. If this is the rule of law, then apparently, one can defeat a VAPO by filing a guardianship petition that overlaps. This is surely not what is contemplated by the legislature. Supreme Court review is needed now. This case presents an ideal set of fact for the Supreme Court to provide guidance.