FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
7/26/2019 2:38 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

SUPREME COURT NO. 97280-0

(Court of Appeals, Div. I, No. 76777-1-1)

ROBERT J. BOSONE,

Petitioner,

vs.

ANN LONGINOTTI,

Respondent.

**RESPONDENT'S ANSWER TO
PETITION FOR REVIEW**

Douglas R. Shepherd
Heather C. Shepherd
Shepherd and Allen
2011 Young Street, Ste 202
Bellingham, WA 98225
(360) 733-3773

July 26, 2019

I – IDENTITY OF RESPONDENT

Respondent is Ann Longinotti, Respondent/Cross-Appellant at the Court of Appeals and Petitioner/Respondent at the trial court.

II – STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On January 20, 2017, a guardianship matter was filed by Ann Longinotti ("Longinotti") to address the financial and personal needs of her father, Robert (Buzz) Bosone, under cause number 17-4-00026-4 (Guardianship matter). On January 19, 2017, one day prior to filing the Guardianship matter, Longinotti also filed and served a Petition for Vulnerable Adult Order for Protection against Robert H. Bosone (hereinafter "Bobby"), under cause number 17-2-00071-2 (Longinotti's VAPO). Longinotti CP 1.

On January 27, 2017, Bobby filed and served a Petition for Vulnerable Adult Order of Protection under cause number 17-2-00113-1 (Bobby's VAPO). Bobby CP 1.

On February 1, 2017, prior counsel for Longinotti, Mr. Neubeck, and counsel for Bobby, Mr. Seguire, appeared and presented evidence before the trial court, including three witnesses

addressing issues raised in Bobby's VAPO, Longinotti's VAPO and the Guardianship matter. 2/1/17 RP 9.

On March 1, 2017, Mr. Neubeck and Mr. Seguire again appeared and presented evidence regarding issues for all three matters. 3/1/17 RP 107.

On March 14, 2017, Mr. Shepherd substituted in as counsel for Longinotti in Longinotti's VAPO. Longinotti CP 45. On March 16, 2017, Mr. Shepherd substituted in as counsel on behalf of Longinotti in Bobby's VAPO. Bobby CP 33. As of March 16, 2017, Mr. Shepherd was the attorney of record on behalf of Longinotti for all three matters. *Id.*; 3/27/17 RP 3.

On March 27, 2017, Mr. Shepherd and Mr. Seguire appeared before the trial court, again addressing all three matters. 3/27/17 RP 1-2. In the March 27 hearing, upon oral motion of Mr. Shepherd, Longinotti's VAPO and Bobby's VAPO were ordered dismissed, and all issues related to issues contained in the VAPO Petitions were ordered to be resolved in the Guardianship matter.¹ Bobby CP 35; Longinotti CP 47.

¹ MR. SHEPHERD: So anyway I think we ought to proceed in the guardianship with all due -- . . . I mean any of these claims that we're talking about right now do not belong to the children. They belong to Mr. Bosone. Someone independent should be advancing these not the children. 3/27/17 RP 24.

III – LEGAL AUTHORITY AND ARGUMENT

A. Standard to Accept Petition for Review.

A petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court **only**:

- (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or
- (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with another decision of the Court of Appeals; or
- (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or
- (4) *If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.*

RAP 13.4(b) (emphasis added). Petitioner cites subsection (4) as the only basis for this Court to accept review.

B. The Purpose of VAPO Proceedings is to protect the Vulnerable Adult, not Bobby.

A superior court's focus is properly "on the protection and well-being of the vulnerable adult: 'The stated purpose of the [Act] is to protect vulnerable adults from abuse, financial exploitation, and neglect.'" *In re Knight*, 178 Wn.App. 929, 938, 317 P.3d 1068 (Div. 2, 2014).

As in this case, it is common for a petitioner to seek a vulnerable adult protection order at the same time as filing a petition to establish a guardianship under chapter 11.88 RCW. See, e.g., *Endicott v. Saul*, 142 Wash.App. 899, 176 P.3d 560 (2008). Both the Act and the guardianship statutes are concerned with the

personal and financial health of vulnerable or incapacitated adults.

Id. at 939. VAPO proceedings provide no protections for Bobby Bosone. The Court of Appeals agreed the priority in a VAPO proceeding is the alleged vulnerable adult:

But, the purpose of the VAPO and guardianship statutes is to protect the interests of vulnerable adults, not the interests of those who seek to manage their care. “The real party at interest in a guardianship proceeding is the alleged incapacitated person and it is the trial court’s duty to ensure that his interests are protected.” In re Guardianship of Matthews, 156 Wn. App. 201, 210, 232 P.3d 1140 (2010). Similarly, “[t]he abuse of vulnerable adults act, chapter 74.34 RCW, was enacted in 1995 **to provide protection and legal remedies to vulnerable adults** living in the community but dependent on others for their care.” Cummings v. Guardianship Servs. of Seattle, 128 Wn. App. 742, 749, 110 P.3d 796 (2005).

Matter of Bosone, 2019 WL 1258927, p. 5, Not Reported in Pac. Rptr. (Div. 1, March 18, 2019).

C. Bobby was Not Denied Due Process.

Bobby disguises his continued due process argument as “an issue of substantial public interest.” Bobby was not denied process.

The fundamental requisites of due process are “the opportunity to be heard,” and “notice reasonably calculated, under all the circumstances to apprise interested parties of the pendency of the action and afford them an opportunity to present their objections,” Thus, “at a minimum” the due process clause of the Fourteenth

Amendment demands that a deprivation of life, liberty or property be preceded by "notice and opportunity for hearing appropriate to the nature of the case." Moreover, this opportunity "must be granted at a meaningful time and in a meaningful manner.

Matter of Deming, 108 Wn.2d 82, 96, 736 P.2d 639 (1987)

(internal citations omitted).

"Procedural due process requires notice and an opportunity to be heard 'at a meaningful time and in a meaningful manner.'

The process due depends on what is fair in a particular context."

In re Detention of Morgan, 180 Wn.2d 312, 320, 330 P.3d 774

(2014) (citations omitted).

After Bobby's VAPO and Longinotti's VAPO were heard together by the trial court, all issues left to be addressed were properly placed in the hands of the pending Guardianship matter.

The March 1, hearing was clearly a combined hearing:

THE COURT: Am I understanding correctly that all three files have been joined to be heard this afternoon?

MR. SEGUINE: Your Honor, just for the record, Tom Seguire. I came in this morning, I looked at the deal, and I saw that the third one was on the calendar. Counsel and I did have a discussion about that earlier, but I don't think we ever actually entered an order or reached an agreement, so.

THE COURT: When you say third one, do you mean the guardianship?

MR. SEGUINE: Yes.

3/1/17 RP 107.

THE COURT: Well, my suggestion is to do what we're trying to do today, and that's combine all the cases, and they are so intertwined and spend one day perhaps on dealing with all of it and getting rulings on all of them and a plan going forward.

3/1/17 RP 119.

On March 27, 2017, the trial court correctly decided to address everything in the Guardianship matter, dismissing Bobby's VAPO and Longinotti's VAPO. The trial court correctly decided to appoint an attorney to represent the alleged incapacitated person, to have a hearing on capacity in the Guardianship matter, and to address the concerns raised in both VAPO Petitions in the Guardianship matter:

MR. SHEPHERD: Then there's a second question case. It's the duty of the Guardian ad Litem to explain to him all of his rights. If he doesn't understand his rights I don't know how he could ask for them to be implemented. That's my concern. It's an interesting argument that if he doesn't ask for an attorney when he's completely incapacitated he's not entitled to one. That doesn't make any sense. Because it's not a knowing, intelligent waiver of his right to have a jury trial in these proceeding.

.....

I was not comfortable getting involved in this without raising this issue at the first hearing, Your Honor. I think the guardianship is where we should be, where all of these things should be resolved, and there should be an independent person appointed to take care of his person and his estate. They can decide whether

any of these claims about misconduct of the two children should be brought.

THE COURT: I find that argument extremely persuasive under these circumstances. I believe at this point that an attorney should be appointed even if that attorney simply comes on board to agree with everything we're talking about.

3/27/17 RP 25-26.

Following Bobby's objection to the dismissal of Bobby's VAPO, the trial court clarified its ruling:

THE COURT: What I want to make clear is that I'm not dismissing his allegations against his sister in terms of the guardianship. They will all still be heard, if necessary. So when you say I'm dismissing his case you are correct. But I'm not dismissing his concerns. I'm putting them in another venue, if you will, or another cause number to be discussed there.

3/27/17 RP 27-28.

D. Duplicative Litigation was Unnecessary.

Bobby next argues that "any VAPO Petition related to [a guardianship proceeding] is subject to summary dismissal because they are 'basically' the same thing." Petition, p. 5. The Court of Appeals found that "allowing the parties to litigate their concerns about Buzz's care via the guardianship proceeding was eminently reasonable." Litigating a guardianship and two competing VAPOs was unnecessary and duplicative, as any relief sought and all

concerns brought in Bobby's [and Longinotti's] VAPO could be addressed in the guardianship. 3/27/17 RP 27-28.

These rules govern the procedure in the superior court in all suits of a civil nature whether cognizable as cases at law or in equity with the exceptions stated in rule 81. They shall be construed and administered to secure the **just, speedy, and inexpensive determination of every action.**

CR 1 (emphasis added).

IV – REQUEST FOR ATTORNEY FEES AND EXPENSES

Longinotti respectfully requests this Court award reasonable attorney fees and expenses for the preparation and filing of this Answer to Bobby's Petition for Review pursuant to RAP 18.1.